## THE SOCIAL IMPACTS OF THE EL-NIÑO/SOUTHERN OSCILLATION CYCLE

## An Interactive Qualifying Project Report

Submitted to the Faculty of

### WORCESTER POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Bachelor of Science

by

Peter Osswald

Date: December 6, 2011

Approved:

Professor Lauren Mathews, Advisor

## **Table of Contents**

Introduction
Mechanics of the ENSO Cycle
Pacific Climatic Patterns
The Coriolis Effect and Global Air Patterns
Air and Water Movement in the Central Pacific9
Ocean Circulation
Upwelling of Subsurface Water Masses16
Anatomy of the ENSO Cycle
Phases of the ENSO cycle
ENSO's Effect upon Atmospheric Patterns
ENSO's Effect on Heat and Water Transport
ENSO's Effect on Upwelling
Variability of the ENSO Cycle
Interdependence of Climatic Factors
Causality
Climate Change and ENSO
Meteorological Effects of the ENSO cycle on the Pacific Basin
Social Impacts of the ENSO cycle
Impact of ENSO on Public Health
Impact of ENSO on Public Safety
Impact of ENSO on Pacific Ecosystems 46
Impact of ENSO on Pacific Economies 48
Factors Affecting Severity of ENSO's Human Impact51
Conclusion
References

## Introduction

The El-Nino/Southern Oscillation, or ENSO, cycle affects human communities around the world, particularly in the Pacific Basin. The ENSO cycle influences already existing climate patterns, affecting meteorological patterns across the Pacific and around the world. The first section of this paper, *Mechanics of the ENSO Cycle*, explains how the ENSO cycle affects the climate patterns of the Pacific Ocean. Within the section are five subsections. The first, *Pacific Climate Patterns*, explains the meteorological and oceanic mechanisms of the Pacific Ocean. The second subsection, *Anatomy of the ENSO Cycle*, describes the air-sea interactions that characterize the ENSO cycle. The third subsection, *Variability of the ENSO Cycle*, describes how the ENSO cycle has changed in the past and may change in the future. The fourth subsection, *Interdependence of Climate Factors*, investigates the causality of the ENSO cycle and its relation to global climate change. The final subsection, *Meteorological Effects of the ENSO cycle on the Pacific Basin*, summarizes the effects of the ENSO cycle on rainfall and temperature patterns across the Pacific Basin.

The meteorological effects of the ENSO cycle in turn impact human communities in both direct and indirect ways. The second section of this paper, *Social Impacts of the ENSO cycle*, describes how ENSO's meteorological effects impact the people of the Pacific Basin. Drought, flooding, economic collapse and epidemics are some of the social impacts of the ENSO cycle to particularly vulnerable communities. The second section of this paper is broken up into five subsections. The first four subsections, *Impact of ENSO on Public Health*, *Impact of ENSO on Public Safety*, *Impact of ENSO on Pacific Ecosystems*, and Impact of ENSO on Pacific Economies, describe the health-related , disaster-related , ecological, and economic impacts of the ENSO cycle in the Pacific, respectively. The final subsection, *Factors Affecting the Severity* 

*of ENSO's Human Impact*, investigates the causes of ENSO's varying effects on society, specifically what factors contribute toward the most severe impacts. The climatic disruptions induced by the ENSO cycle have immense social impact across the Pacific Basin. Consequently, understanding the ENSO cycle and its effects is vital to being able to respond to ENSO's impact on humanity.

#### **Mechanics of the ENSO Cycle**

The climate of the Pacific is a highly complex system that must be understood as a prerequisite to understanding the ENSO cycle. The ENSO cycle is characterized by specific mechanisms and processes that dominate the behavior of the Pacific climate system. These mechanisms cause the atmospheric and oceanic processes of the Pacific to oscillate between ENSO's two extremes, El Niño and La Niña. The ENSO cycle is extremely complex and difficult to predict because of the interconnected nature of the processes and mechanisms of ENSO and the Pacific Climate system. Because of this complexity it is important to first understand the climatic mechanisms of the Pacific before analyzing the ENSO cycle itself.

#### **Pacific Climatic Patterns**

An understanding of the ENSO cycle depends on a working knowledge of the physical mechanisms of Pacific climate.. The mechanisms that dominate air and water flow in the Pacific are complex and interdependent, and are critical to understanding Pacific climate. Wind and temperature patterns and oceanic circulation, including upwelling, greatly each affect the Pacific climate in different and interconnected ways. The mechanisms that affect Pacific climate are so interdependent it is almost impossible to determine causality. This makes the climate system very difficult to model, and it must be understood that the following explanations assume that the mechanisms are much simpler than they truly are. The details of the behavior and interactions of the mechanisms of the Pacific Climate system are explained in the following sections.

#### **The Coriolis Effect and Global Air Patterns**

The climate patterns of the Pacific basin are largely driven by a specific set of wind patterns. Because equatorial regions receive more solar energy than the Polar Regions, regional differences in solar heating create a meridianal (latitudinal) pressure gradient with high pressure at the poles and low pressure at the equator. As the Earth's axis is tilted relative to its orbit, the amount of sunlight reaching the higher latitudes changes with the seasons. However the amount of sunlight reaching the equatorial region is consistently strong, so over a year the equator receives more sunlight than the poles. Because more of the sun's rays reach the earth at the equator than at the poles, the earth's atmosphere is warmer there. The warmer air at the equator is less dense than at the poles, so there are more air molecules above someone standing at the North Pole than at the equator. The weight of the air molecules above us is what causes atmospheric pressure, so there is greater air pressure at the poles than at the equator (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003). A fluid such as air will flow from the area of highest pressure to the area of lowest pressure. If the earth were not rotating and there were no continents, this would create two large convection "cells", or loops, with air sweeping from the poles to the equator, getting heated by the sun, rising due to its lower density, and journeying back to the poles to descend and start the process all over again (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003). This phenomenon, however, does not happen. The rotation of the earth and the presence of continents break the super cells into smaller convection cells.

The earth's rotation influences the behavior of all moving objects when viewed with respect to the earth. This influence is known as the Coriolis Effect, and is an artifact of measuring motion from a rotating coordinate system. Every object on the surface of the earth has the same speed of rotation about the Earth's axis, but their straight-line speeds through space may be different. As linear speed through space of an object revolving about an axis is

proportional to the rotational speed times the radius to the axis of revolution, objects closer to the earth's axis are moving slower than objects farther away. Therefore the linear speed through space is greatest at the equator and negligible at the poles. The result of this is that objects that travel along the earth's surface in a northern or southern direction experience the Coriolis Effect because the linear speed of the surface of the earth is changing below them.

An example of this would be if two people played catch across the northern hemisphere. For example, If Person A was on the North Pole, and Person B was standing on the Equator, and they were to attempt to play catch, Person B would throw a baseball due north. The baseball will have a northward velocity from Person B's throw and an eastward velocity caused by the movement of the earth rotating about its axis. As the baseball approaches Person A on the North Pole, it maintains the eastward velocity that it had at its starting point over the equator. However, as an object moves toward one of the poles, its distance from the earth's axis decreases. So as the baseball flies northward the linear speed of the earth's surface beneath it is getting slower and slower. The earth is still spinning the same speed but because the distance to the earth's axis is decreasing, the linear speed of any point on the earth is less than at the equator. So the farther the baseball goes north the greater the difference between the baseball's velocity and the ground's velocity, causing the baseball to "deflect" to the right, or eastward in this case.

At the north pole, Person A, who is completely stationary and spinning about the earth's axis, and will never see the baseball as it will land far eastward of its intended target. If Person A then took another baseball and tried to throw it to Person B, the same phenomenon would happen. Person A's baseball would have a southern velocity but no velocity at all in the east-west direction. By the time it reaches the equator where Person B is hurtling around the earth's

axis at considerable speed, Person B will be east of ball, inducing a "deflection" of the ball's path to the right, just as when Person B threw the ball to Person A.

This phenomenon also exists in the southern hemisphere, although because the deflection is measured with respect to the object and not to the earth, it has been observed that objects are deflected to the right in the northern hemisphere and to the left in the southern hemisphere, as shown below in Figure 1.



Figure 1: The Coriolis Effect in the Northern and Southern Hemispheres Source: Hall 2010

The Coriolis Effect is primarily responsible for the breaking up of the two theoretical super convection cells into the smaller Hadley cells. The Coriolis Effect causes air to move eastward relative to the surface of the earth to such an extent that the air mass's meridianal movement is eclipsed by its zonal (longitudinal) movement (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003). This in turn creates atmospheric disturbances in the form of the low pressure systems at about 65° N and S Latitude. These systems reverse the atmospheric pressure gradient, breaking up the two

fictional hemispheric convection cells into six major cells, called Hadley Cells. The six Hadley cells can be observed in Figure 2. Additionally, from the wind patterns in Figure 1 it can be observed that all of the wind patterns in the northern hemisphere have been deflected to the right from straight north or south and all wind patterns in the southern hemisphere have likewise been deflected to the left of straight north or south.



Figure 2: Convection Cells and Major Wind Patterns Source: Tomczak & Godfrey 2003

#### Air and Water Movement in the Central Pacific

Hadley cells in the Central Pacific induce the NE and SE trade winds, which are important features of the Equatorial Pacific climate. The Hadley cells between 0° and 30° induce winds blowing toward the equator, which are deflected by the Coriolis Effect to blow from the NE and SE. It is worth note that the NE trades blow toward the Southwest, NE referring to the direction the wind is *coming from*, not going. The trade winds are the dominant atmospheric feature of the Central Pacific, driving the Northern and Southern Equatorial currents steadily westward as well as atmospheric weather systems. The Central Pacific's Zonal (latitudinal) air circulation is fueled by the Sun. The Sun heats up the surface layers of the Ocean. The warm water is pushed westward by the trade winds. Because of the high heat capacity of water, the warm water accumulated in the Western Pacific greatly affects the air directly above it (D'Aleo 2002). Energy flows from the water to the air, which becomes less dense and rises, creating clouds and rain. Having lost most of its moisture to cloud formation, the air is then pushed eastward by a zonal pressure gradient in the upper atmosphere. The eastward-flowing air then cools and descends to complete the zonal convection cell (Glantz 1996). This zonal convective loop is called Walker Circulation, shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3: Walker Circulation Source: Allan et al 1996

The convergence of the NE and SE trades near the equator creates an area of meteorological instability without consistent wind patterns. Known as the Intertropical Convergence Zone or ITCZ, this phenomenon is a major characteristic of the Pacific climate system. In general, convergence zones are characterized by low winds, warm water, and high rainfall. They are formed when wind patterns converge and push air upward, which loses its

moisture in the form of rain (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003). In the case of the ITCZ, the convergence of the trade winds causes the air to rise, which is then driven away from the equator as part of the Hadley cell system. The ITCZ is not fixed at the equator but is driven northward and southward by climatic fluctuations and local weather. In the Pacific the ITCZ is usually a few degrees north of the Equator (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003). The ITCZ spans the globe but is best observed in the world's largest ocean, the Pacific, as shown in Figure 4 (Allan et al 1996).



# Figure 4: The Intertropical Convergence Zone, South Pacific Convergence Zone, and Pacific Dry Zone shown in their annual mean positions in the Pacific Basin Source: Allan et al 1996

The ITCZ is not the only major convergence zone in the Pacific, the South Pacific Convergence Zone, or SPCZ, spans from about 30°S, 120° West to near the coast of New Guinea where it merges with the ITCZ (Vincent 1994). The SPCZ is formed by warm air rising from the warm water in the southwestern Pacific. The specific drivers of the phenomenon are not fully known, but it has been observed that annually there is the most rain over the areas of the Pacific

that are the warmest (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003). This increased rainfall is indicative of warm air rising and losing its moisture in the form of rain. When the sea surface temperature is higher, more energy is transferred to the air, which causes more air to rise, which increases the rainfall as more air sheds its moisture as rain.

The Pacific Dry Zone, or PDZ, covers most of the Eastern Pacific and characterizes much of the climate in that region. Most of the Pacific Ocean west of the SPCZ and south of the ITCZ is within the Pacific Dry Zone, as shown in Figure 4. The Pacific dry zone is characterized by steady winds, few clouds, and little rain. Though the specific set of factors leading to the formation of the PDZ are not fully understood, Hastenrath (1999) theorized that its conditions are connected to the Walker circulation present in the equatorial region.

#### **Ocean Circulation**

The major currents of the Pacific Ocean play a significant role in Pacific climate. The Pacific's system of currents transports water and heat around the Pacific Ocean, greatly influencing the climate patterns observed. As the El Niño/Southern Oscillation is most strongly tied to the processes in the Central Pacific, the focus of this section will be on the major currents of the Central Pacific (Philander 1996). As shown in Figure 5, the major currents of the Central Pacific Ocean are the North Equatorial Countercurrent (NECC), North Equatorial Current (NEC), and South Equatorial Current (SEC). The Equatorial Undercurrent (EUC), not shown in Figure 5, also plays an important role in water mass and heat transfer in the Central Pacific.

The Northern Equatorial Countercurrent, or NECC, plays a key role in the dynamics of the Central Pacific climate system and equatorial water mass transport. It is fed by the coastal eddies north of New Guinea and flows eastward to the waters off of South America. Over most

of this distance the current is positioned at about 5° N, the same approximate latitude of the ITCZ in the Pacific. NECC is the only major surface current in the Central Pacific that flows contrary to the direction of the trade winds, a phenomenon made possible by the weak winds of the ITCZ under which the NECC usually flows (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003).

The North Equatorial Current, or NEC, plays a key role in the dynamics of the Central Pacific climate system and equatorial water mass transport. Unlike the pressure gradient driven NECC, the NEC is primarily wind driven. The NEC is pushed west by the NE trade winds and is very sensitive to the seasonal and interannual fluctuations in those winds (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003). The NEC typically flows just north of 10° N latitude, flowing from the western coast of Central America to the southern tip of the Philippines (Philander, 1990).

![](_page_13_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 5: The Major Currents of the Pacific Source: Tomczak & Godfrey 2003

The South Equatorial Current, or SEC, also plays a key role in the dynamics of the Central Pacific climate system and equatorial water mass transport. Like the NEC, the SEC is also driven primarily by wind. The SEC is pushed west by the SE trade winds and is very sensitive to the seasonal and interannual fluctuations in those winds (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003). The SEC typically flows just south of 3° N latitude, flowing from the western coast of Central America to the southern tip of the Philippines (Philander, 1990).

The last major water movement in the Central Pacific Ocean is the Equatorial Undercurrent, or EUC. The EUC is not a surface current, but an eastward-flowing, subsurface current of water at the equator. This 14,000 kilometer-long flow is about 200 meters thick and has a width of up to 400 kilometers. The EUC is driven by the pressure gradient created by water accumulated in the Western Pacific due to the trade winds, the SEC, and the NEC. The trade winds and associated currents raise the sea level of the Western Pacific with respect to the Eastern Pacific, creating a zonal pressure gradient. In response to this gradient the water in the Western Pacific flows "downhill" to the east. This phenomenon is shown in Figure 6 (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003).

Understanding the currents of the Pacific Ocean is critical to an understanding of the ENSO cycle. The ENSO cycle has a considerable effect upon the flow of water and heat around the Pacific, and can greatly disrupt the typical current system of the Pacific. The full effect of the ENSO cycle on water movement in the Pacific is discussed in *ENSO's Effect on Heat and Water Transport* under the *Mechanics of the ENSO Cycle* section of this paper.

![](_page_15_Picture_1.jpeg)

## Figure 6: The Equatorial Undercurrent (EUC) Source: American Samoa & the Pacific Remote Islands 2010

#### **Upwelling of Subsurface Water Masses**

The upwelling of deeper water masses in the Central and Eastern Pacific play a key role in the ocean's climate and the ENSO cycle. Oceanic and atmospheric processes induce the upwelling of cold, deep subsurface water masses toward the surface. The upwelling of cold water to the surface greatly affects meteorological, biological, and oceanic processes. The rising deep water carries nutrients to the surface and induces mixing throughout the water column, a process of great benefit to the ecological productivity, including fishery yields, of the region. The upwelling water also greatly affects the temperature and pressure gradients that drive the meteorological and oceanic processes of the Pacific Climate system.

To understand the basic principles of upwelling in the Pacific Ocean the hydrography of the ocean must first be understood. The waters of the Pacific Ocean are divided into distinct bodies, known as water masses, with specific properties. The salinity, temperature and dissolved oxygen content of a water mass is linked to the conditions of the water mass's formation (Anderson et al 2010). Generally, water masses maintain the temperature, salinity, and dissolved oxygen content that they had at their formation. The temperature and salinity each affect the density of the water. Colder temperatures and higher salinities make water denser, while warmer temperatures and lower salinities make water less dense. Additionally, differences in density between water masses caused by salinity and temperature differences inhibit mixing, preserving the existence of discrete separate water masses.

If a body of water is not disturbed by wind or turbulence, Water that is cold and salty will sink and water that is warm and less salty will float. Because the ocean's primary source of heat is the sun, water is heated at the surface. The water effected by the sun's rays heat up and become less dense, creating layers of increasingly warm water as depth decreases. This is called stratification, and it is most evident in areas with low winds and high temperatures.

The major water masses of the Central Pacific Ocean are the North Pacific Equatorial Water, or NPEW, the South Pacific Equatorial Water, or SPEW, Antarctic Bottom Water, or AABW, Antarctic Intermediate Water, or AAIW, Pacific Deep Water, or PDW, and subtropical Central Water (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003). The deeper water masses are shown in a meridianal cross-section of the Pacific Ocean in Figure 7.

Differences in density inhibit the mixing of water masses at their boundary. The boundary is most defined between surface water masses and deeper water masses, where it is called the thermocline. The thermocline is the contact point between warm surface water and cold, salty deepwater. It is at the thermocline that the salinity and temperature changes the greatest with depth. The depth of the thermocline is a good indicator of how much warm water is present on the surface. A deeper thermocline generally corresponds with warmer surface temperatures and a greater volume of warm water near the surface (Anderson et al 2010).

Each of these water masses has specific properties determined by the conditions of their formation. When upwelling brings a deeper water mass toward the surface the water mass brings with it its intrinsic properties, affecting the air-sea interactions at the surface.

![](_page_17_Figure_3.jpeg)

Figure 7: Deep Water Masses of the Pacific Ocean Source: An Introduction to Physical Oceanography 2002

The upwelling of subsurface water masses is an important oceanographic process that directly affects the Pacific climate system and the communities dependent on it. This phenomenon has numerous manifestations, the most important being two zones of upwelling in the Central Equatorial Pacific and on the Peruvian Coast. Peruvian and Equatorial upwelling, while both having significant importance to the Pacific climate, are driven by markedly different mechanisms.

Peruvian upwelling is an example of a phenomenon known as "coastal" upwelling, and is caused by atmospheric and oceanic pressure gradients. Under normal (mean) conditions in the Pacific Ocean, the trade winds push a substantial amount of warm surface water westward, reducing the depth of the surface water mass in the East. The westward-bound water is replaced by cool, deep water upwelling toward the surface (Pinet 1992).

Peruvian upwelling serves as an excellent example of how the ocean and atmospheric systems are interconnected. Zonal atmospheric convection (i.e., Walker Circulation) induces the trade winds, which in turn move warm surface water westward, which is replaced by cold subsurface water. The accumulation of warm water in the West Pacific in turn heats up the air in that region, contributing to the atmospheric convection (Segar 1998).

In contrast, equatorial upwelling is caused by trade-wind induced Ekman transport causing warm surface water to be displaced by cold subsurface water. The Coriolis Effect causes water movement to deflect to the right in the Northern Hemisphere and to the left in the Southern Hemisphere. The effect of this deflection throughout the water column, called Ekman transport, is manifested as a net flow perpendicular to the direction of the wind-induced surface flow, as shown in Figure 8.

![](_page_19_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 8: Ekman Tranport Source: Adapted From Thurman 1996

As the trade winds induce Ekman transport to the north and south of the equator, surface water is diverted northward and southward. The surface water is then replaced by colder subsurface water upwelling to take its place. This process is shown in Figure 9. In the Pacific, this creates a band of surface water near the equator that is notably cooler and richer in nutrients than the water just to the north and south of it (Pinet 1992).

![](_page_20_Figure_1.jpeg)

![](_page_20_Figure_2.jpeg)

The upwelling mechanism is important to the Pacific climate system in both of its manifestations. Despite being driven by different processes, both mechanisms have the same effect of bringing cool, nutrient-rich water to the surface. Equatorial and Peruvian upwelling are both key factors in the climatic and ecological systems of the Pacific Ocean, greatly affecting these systems in their regions and the Pacific as a whole.

### Anatomy of the ENSO Cycle.

While the El Niño/Southern Oscillation cycle affects climate worldwide, it is controlled by a specific series of air-sea interactions in the central Pacific Ocean. The interaction of atmospheric and oceanic circulation, heat and mass transport, and weather systems of the Pacific

create an oscillating phenomenon that dominates the Pacific climate system. In their regional oceanography textbook, Tomczak & Godfrey (2003) describe the ENSO cycle as "an instability of the coupled ocean-atmosphere system in the tropics".

#### Phases of the ENSO cycle

The ENSO cycle can be described as a dynamic oscillating phenomenon consisting of two discrete phases, El Niño and La Niña. These phases are the extremes of a continuous oscillating system. El Niño is one extreme of the system, and La Niña is the other extreme.

During the El Niño extreme of the ENSO cycle, the trade winds weaken, or even reverse direction. The water that was previously pushed westward by the trade winds is then allowed to flow back east, driven by the same oceanic pressure gradients as the Equatorial Undercurrent and North Equatorial Countercurrent (Segar 1998). This warm surface water spreads over the water in the eastern Pacific that is otherwise upwelled by the trade winds. As the trade winds are weakened, they no longer have the power to induce upwelling, leading to a stratification of the water column. The result of this is a period where the Central Pacific Ocean is characterized by weak (or reversed) trade winds, warm SST's, and stratification of the water column in the Central and Eastern Pacific (Philander 1996), which prevents mixing of cold and nutrient-rich deep water with surface waters. This process is shown in Figure 10.

![](_page_22_Figure_1.jpeg)

## Figure 10: El Niño Conditions Source: NOAA 2011

During the La Niña phase of the ENSO cycle, the trade winds are strengthened, increasing westward water flow and pulling even more warm surface water from the Eastern Pacific, increasing upwelling in that region. Additionally, the strengthened trade winds increase Ekman transport and therefore Equatorial upwelling in the Central Pacific. This increase in upwelling in turn lowers SST's in the Central and Eastern Pacific (Segar 1998). In summary, La Niña is characterized by strong trade winds, cool SST's and strong upwelling in the Central and Eastern Pacific (Philander 1996), resulting in substantial movement of nutrients from deep to surface waters. This process is shown in Figure 11.

![](_page_23_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 11: La Niña Conditions

Source: NOAA 2011

#### **ENSO's Effect upon Atmospheric Patterns**

The extremes of the ENSO cycle have significant effects on Pacific Climate. The extremes of the ENSO cycle have a significant effect on the intensity of the trade winds. An El Niño Event weakens and can even reverse the trade winds, while a La Niña event strengthens the trade winds. The ENSO cycle's effect on the trade winds is due in most part to its effect upon zonal atmospheric convection. In an El Niño event, the warm water in the Central and Eastern Pacific causes air to heat up and rise in that region, increasing rainfall and shifting the center of the Walker circulation system eastward, as shown in Figure 10 (Glantz 1996). This increased convection strengthens the trade winds.

In a La Niña event, the warm water in the Western Pacific causes air to heat up and rise in that region, increasing rainfall and augmenting the Walker circulation already present over the Pacific, as seen in Figure 11. This change in zonal circulation weakens the trade winds. The intermediate condition, shown in Figure 3, is physically similar to a La Niña event, but its effects are of a much lower magnitude.

One of the manifestations of the movement of warm surface water and the corresponding updraft of air with associated rains is the movement of the ITCZ and SPCZ. During normal conditions and the La Niña extreme the ITCZ and SPCZ converge in the West Pacific near Indonesia, as shown in Point A of Figure 12. During the El Niño extreme, the SST-updraft-rain system moves eastward such that the convergence of the ITCZ and SPCZ is near Point B in Figure 12 (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003).

![](_page_24_Figure_3.jpeg)

Figure 12: Movement of the ITCZ and SPCZ due to ENSO

Source: (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003).

#### **ENSO's Effect on Heat and Water Transport**

The ENSO cycle is characterized by a specific mechanism of water mass transport. The oscillation of Pacific climate patterns affected by the ENSO cycle sets into motion a series of oceanic mechanisms of water transport unique to ENSO and the conditions of the Equatorial Pacific. The manifestation of these effects is present in the zonal transport of Pacific surface water, specifically in the Kelvin wave oceanic mechanism.

The zonal movement of warm surface water in the Central Pacific is one of the key mechanisms of the ENSO cycle. As previously mentioned, El Niño is tied to weak or reversed trade winds, and La Niña is tied to strong trade winds. During mean and La Niña conditions, the westward flow of surface water propelled by the trade winds causes a thickening of the surface water layer in the western Pacific. The thicker surface layer pushes the thermocline, or boundary layer between warm surface water and cold subsurface water, to a greater depth. The result is a westward-sloping thermocline, as can be seen in Figure 11 (Pinet 1992). Conversely, during El Niño weak or reversed trades allow the warm surface water to flow back eastward. The eastward flow of warm surface water during El Niño is greatly augmented by the reduction of thermocline slope during that phase, as can be seen in Figure 10 (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003), (Pinet 1992). These effects on the slope and depth of the thermocline are attributed to the propagation of Kelvin waves eastward across the Pacific during the El Niño extreme. These are eastwardflowing equatorial waves that traverse the entire Pacific Ocean in a number of months with little dissipation. As a Kelvin wave moves eastward, it decreases the thermocline depth in the West Pacific and increases the thermocline depth in the Eastern Pacific, reducing the thermocline's westward slope (Pinet 1992).

#### **ENSO's Effect on Upwelling**

One of the most important effects of the ENSO cycle is its effect on Equatorial and Peruvian upwelling. ENSO's effect on the trade winds and water transport greatly affects the upwelling in the Pacific. To review, the El Niño extreme is characterized by negligible Equatorial and Peruvian upwelling, while the La Niña extreme is characterized by pronounced Equatorial and Peruvian upwelling. During mean conditions there is moderate Equatorial and Peruvian upwelling.

The phase of ENSO has a pronounced effect upon upwelling in the Pacific. During the La Niña extreme of the ENSO cycle, both Equatorial and Peruvian upwelling in the Pacific Ocean is highly pronounced. The strengthened trade winds of the La Niña phase increase the Equatorial upwelling via Ekman transport and also push greater amounts of surface water westward, causing Peruvian upwelling (Segar 1998). During the El Niño extreme of the ENSO cycle, both Equatorial and Peruvian upwelling in the Pacific Ocean is suppressed. The weakened trade winds associated with El Niño do not induce a significant amount of Equatorial upwelling, and if the trade winds reverse they in fact induce downwelling (Tomczak & Godfrey 2003). Additionally, Peruvian upwelling is suppressed by the reduction or reversal of westward surface water flow during El Niño. In summary, El Niño's effect on the trade winds suppresses both Equatorial and Peruvian upwelling.

#### Variability of the ENSO Cycle

The ENSO cycle follows a cyclical pattern but is prone to significant year-to-year variability. The ENSO cycle has been oscillating regularly for at least hundreds of years, but

variability due to the effect of random weather patterns and climatic trends make it extremely difficult to predict.

The ENSO cycle is a natural oscillation of the Pacific air-sea interaction. The ENSO cycle has been oscillating for at least as long as humanity has been able to observe it. Its effects have been observed off the coast of Peru for hundreds of years but it was not studied scientifically until the late nineteenth century. Figure 13 shows the standardized departure from average of a multivariate ENSO index with respect to time. , Essentially, this is how far the ENSO index is from the mean state. Positive values (in red) represent El Niño conditions and negative values (in blue) represent La Niña conditions.

![](_page_27_Figure_3.jpeg)

Figure 13: ENSO Index with Respect to Time

#### Source: NOAA 2011

The period of the ENSO cycle varies both interannually and interdecadally. The local period of the ENSO cycle's oscillation varies from 2 to 7 years, while the oscillation also varies on an inter-decadal timescale of 10-30 years (Fielder 2002). For instance, the ENSO cycle oscillates between La Niña and La Niña on a short (2 to 7 year) timescale, but the intensity and length of the ENSO cycle changes on a longer timescale The resulting oscillation is a high

amplitude high frequency wave superimposed on a low amplitude low frequency wave, as shown in Figure 13. However, the effects of random weather and climatic shifts make it extremely difficult to make any future predictions based on this model (Philander 1990). As can be seen in Figure 13, the oscillations between El Niño and La Niña are far from regular, with the intensity and period of each event varying greatly.

#### **Interdependence of Climatic Factors**

The climatic factors that influence the ENSO cycle are complex and interdependent. Upwelling, SST, atmospheric convection, and water transport are all interconnected and interdependent. The resulting system is extremely complex and exceptionally difficult to model or determine causality for (Fedorov et al 2003). The global impact of the ENSO cycle hinges on its effect on the complex meteorological processes across the greater Pacific region and its long range telleconnections around the world. Telleconnections, according to Glantz (1996), are "linkages between climate anomalies at some distance from each other." The climatic effects of the ENSO cycle can be observed around the globe, as shown in Figures 14 and 15. ENSO affects the global climate system through its effects on atmospheric and oceanic convection patterns. The disruption of atmospheric circulation and water transport in the Pacific sets into motion processes that affect weather patterns around the globe (Philander 1990). The meteorological and human impacts of these telleconnections are addressed in the second and third sections of this paper.

#### Causality

While the scientific community has been able to describe the mechanics of the ENSO cycle for some time, no single trigger or cause has been isolated, highlighting the complexity of

the climatic system. Most studies of the phenomenon focus on describing its effects but have been unable to determine what triggers the process (Climate Research Committee, National Research Council 1983). Due to the interconnection of the processes involved in and factors affecting the ENSO cycle it is extremely difficult to identify the root causes or triggers of the ENSO cycle.

Studies of different subsets of the Pacific climate system have revealed how interrelated the different factors are. Oceanographers studying the oceanic process of the ENSO have concluded that the trade winds are the driving force of the system, while meteorologists have concluded that the wind patterns of the Pacific are driven by differences in sea surface temperature determined by oceanic processes. What is evident from this is that oceanic and atmospheric systems in the Pacific are inexorably tied (Pinet 1992).

#### **Climate Change and ENSO**

Climate change may prove to be a significant factor on the mean state and magnitude of the ENSO cycle. A significant increase in the average temperature of the Pacific, as would be caused by acute global warming, would redefine the mean state of the ENSO cycle. In a warmer world, the mean state of the ENSO cycle would be closer to the El Niño extreme we see today than today's mean state. In addition to this effect, the magnitude of the ENSO cycle would increase, making both La Niña and El Niño conditions more extreme (Timmermann et al 1998).

It is unlikely, however, that any change in ENSO's dynamics due to climate change will be observed any time soon. A 2005 study of 19 climate models for the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change predicted no significant changes in the mean state or magnitude of the ENSO cycle over the next century (Oldenborgh et al 2005). While climate change may someday greatly affect the mechanics of the ENSO cycle, it will most likely be a long time until it reaches a magnitude that will have a measurable effect.

### Meteorological Effects of the ENSO cycle on the Pacific Basin

The ENSO cycle affects weather patterns across the world, particularly in the Pacific basin. The ENSO cycle changes rainfall and temperature patterns around the Pacific Basin, often causing droughts in some areas while causing floods in others. Figures 14 and 15 show the effect of both El Niño and La Niña on rain and temperature patterns around the globe. This section describes these effects on the areas of South America, North America, Japan and Coastal China, Indonesia, Australia, and the Central Pacific.

![](_page_31_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 14: ENSO Rainfall Telleconnetions

Source: Allan et al 1996 citing Halpert and Ropelewski 1992

![](_page_32_Figure_1.jpeg)

## Figure 15: ENSO Temperature Telleconnections Source: Allan et al 1996 citing Halpert and Ropelewski 1992

In South America, the ENSO cycle has a significant impact on climate. Both the El Niño and La Niña phases of the ENSO cycle affect the precipitation and temperature patterns of the region. During the El Niño phase of the ENSO cycle, the northern portion of the continent experiences diminished rainfall, while its southeastern coast experiences increased rainfall, as shown in Figure 14 The dry area in the north extends from about 10 °N to 10 °S, while the wet area on the southeastern coast extends from about 25 °S to 45 °S (Philander1990). In addition to affecting rainfall, El Niño increases temperature averages in the northern area of the continent.

Along the continent's northern, northwestern, and northeastern coast, air temperature increases during El Niño events, as shown in Figure 15 (Allan et al 1996).

During the La Niña phase of the ENSO cycle, the effects of the cycle on rainfall and temperature are effectively reversed. In the northern section of the continent there is increased rainfall while on the southeastern coast there is diminished rainfall, as shown in Figure 14 (Allan et al 1996). The temperature of the northern, northeastern, and northwestern coast is likewise cooler than average during the La Niña phase of the cycle, as can be seen in Figure 15 (Glantz 2002).

The ENSO cycle also has a measureable effect on the climate of North America. Both the El Niño and La Niña phases of the ENSO cycle affect the precipitation and temperature patterns of the region. During the El Niño phase of the ENSO cycle there is increased rainfall near the Gulf of Mexico along the southern coast of the United States, as well as in the western United States near 110 °W, as shown in Figure 14 (Philander 1990). In addition to rainfall increases, El Niño induces temperature changes in North America. El Niño events increase temperatures in southern Alaska, western Canada and eastern Quebec, while decreasing temperatures along the southern coast of the continental United States, as shown in Figure 15 (Allan et al 1996).

The La Niña phase of the cycle manifests itself in different ways in North America. The only conclusive rainfall telleconnection of La Niña in North America is a decrease in rainfall in northern Mexico and the southern United States. In similar fashion, the only conclusive temperature telleconnection to La Niña is the cooling of Alaska and western Canada (Glantz 2002). These telleconnections can be readily observed in Figures 14 and 15.

In coastal Asia, the ENSO cycle has a significant impact, particularly in Japan and Coastal China. Both the El Niño and La Niña phases of the ENSO cycle affect the precipitation, temperature, and typhoon patterns of the region. During the El Niño phase of the ENSO cycle increased rainfall is experienced in southern Japan, the Korean peninsula, and southeastern China. Additionally, the air temperature in Japan and on the Asian coast of the Sea of Japan is warmer during El Niño events (Allan et al 1996). Both of these effects can be seen in Figures 14 and 15.

The effects of the La Niña phase of the ENSO cycle on rainfall in coastal Asia are limited to an area of decreased rainfall in eastern China near the East China Sea, as shown in Figure 14 (Allan et al 1996). Its effect on temperature is a cooling along the southernmost tip of the Chinese coast as well as around the Sea of Japan and Japanese Islands, as can be seen in Figure 15 (Glantz 2002).

In addition to affecting temperature and rainfall patterns in coastal Asia, the ENSO cycle has been observed to affect the intensity of typhoons that hit the region. During El Niño the frequency of extremely severe typhoons, or super-typhoons, is greater than during La Niña (Fei and Shibin 2010).

In Indonesia and Australia, both the El Niño and La Niña phases of the ENSO cycle affect the precipitation and temperature patterns of the region. The El Niño phase of the ENSO cycle is manifested in Indonesia and Australia by a significant decrease in rainfall and increased risk of wildfires throughout Indonesia and in Eastern Australia, as can be seen in Figure 14 This is accompanied by generally warmer conditions throughout Indonesia and Southeast Asia, as well as cooler conditions in Northern Australia and warmer conditions and southern Australia, as shown in Figure 15 (Allan et al 1996).

The La Niña phase of the ENSO cycle is manifested in Indonesia and Australia by an increase in rainfall over Indonesia and Central Australia, as shown in Figure 14 In addition to this, La Niña causes a decrease in temperature in Indonesia and Southeast Asia and an increase in temperature in Northeast Australia, as can be seen in Figure 15 (Glantz 2002).

In the central Pacific Ocean, the ENSO cycle is the dominant climatic factor. Both the El Niño and La Niña phases of the ENSO cycle affect the precipitation and temperature patterns of the region. The ENSO cycle is inexorably tied to events in the central Pacific and greatly affects the climatic conditions there. El Niño is tied to warmer sea surface temperatures in the Central Equatorial Pacific while La Niña is tied to cooler sea surface temperatures in the region (Philander 1996).

During the El Niño phase of the ENSO cycle, the Central Pacific is marked by increased rainfall at Equatorial latitudes and decreased rainfall to the north and south of the region, between approximately 10° and 25° North and South, as can be observed in Figure 14 (Philander 1990). In addition to the warm conditions in the Equatorial Central Pacific tied to El Niño, the Central Pacific is marked by a decrease in temperature in the Southern Central Pacific, shown in Figure 15 (Allan et al 1996).

During the La Niña phase of the ENSO cycle, there is less rainfall in the Central Equatorial Pacific and increased rainfall in Central Northern and Southern Pacific, shown in Figure 14 In contrast to the cool temperatures it brings to the Equatorial Pacific, the La Niña phase of the ENSO cycle is manifested by warmer conditions in the Central Southern Pacific, shown in Figure 15 (Allan et al 1996).

In sum, the ENSO cycle has a significant effect on the climate of the entire Pacific Basin, which in turn has a major impact on the people that live there. The meteorological effects mentioned in the above section have a large-scale impact on the economic development, public health, and public safety of communities across the Pacific Basin and the world. The following section describes the extent and severity of these impacts.

## Social Impacts of the ENSO cycle

The ENSO cycle has a tremendous impact on the climate of the Pacific Basin and the human communities it encompasses. The oscillation of the ENSO cycle greatly affects the climate of the different regions of the Pacific Basin, as explained in the previous section of this paper. The changes in climate brought by the ENSO cycle can have dramatic effects on the public health, public safety, environment and economies of Pacific communities.

#### **Impact of ENSO on Public Health**

The climatic changes wrought by the ENSO cycle have been tied to many epidemic diseases around the world, particularly in tropical areas. Changes in temperature and rainfall affect the susceptibility of communities to epidemics, although how these telleconnections effect people varies for different diseases and locations. Figure 16 is a graphical representation of how ENSO-induced droughts and floods interact with other factors to contribute to the severity of an epidemic. These interactions are discussed throughout the rest of this section. ENSO has been tied to a range of epidemics, from cholera and other diarrhoeal diseases to malaria, dengue fever, hantavirus infection, and other host-transported diseases (Kovats 2000).

ENSO and disease. ENSO events cause physical effects such as droughts and floods (blue circle). Where these overlap and interact with suitable ecological and socioeconomic conditions (within dotted lines) they may cause disease outbreaks (dark shaded area).

![](_page_38_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 16: ENSO and Factors Contributing to Epidemics

Source: Hales et al 2003.

Cholera is one of the most virulent and widespread diarrhoeal diseases in the world, infecting 3-5 million people per year and causing between 100 and 120 thousand fatalities. The disease is caused by the bacterium *Vibrio cholerae*, and exposure is usually from drinking contaminated water. The disease causes acute diarrhea, leading to extreme dehydration. The

bacterium leaves the human body through the digestive tract, making sanitation a major factor in preventing disease transmission. Poor sanitation practices leading to contaminated drinking water can quickly cause the disease to escalate into an epidemic (Cholera 2011).

Disruptions in rainfall patterns or an increase in temperature has been observed to contribute to cholera epidemics worldwide. Either an increase or decrease in rainfall can influence the spread of the disease, which thrives in standing water. Flooding from increased rainfall can lead to standing water, but it can also turn standing water into a flowing torrent. Conversely a decrease in rainfall can make standing water dry up or turn a flowing river into a standing pool. So while some of ENSO's rainfall disruptions contribute to the spread of cholera, some inhibit its spread (Kovats 2000).

ENSO's temperature disruptions, however, have been more closely tied to the spread of cholera (Kovats 2000). It has been found that the increase of water temperatures improves conditions for the bacterium's reproduction. A case study of this phenomenon is in Bangladesh. Cholera epidemics there have been found to correspond to temperature increases in the Bay of Bengal. Not only has this been found but the interannual variability of the epidemics has been positively correlated to the ENSO cycle (Pascual et al 2000). It can therefore be concluded that the ENSO cycle has an undeniable, if not necessarily direct, connection to cholera epidemics.

![](_page_40_Picture_1.jpeg)

# Figure 17: Flooding in Thailand. Flooding can increase the risk of water contamination and water-borne diseases such as cholera. Source: Typhoon Ketsana batters Southeast Asia 2011

ENSO's effect on epidemics is not limited to diarrhoeal diseases. The mosquito-borne diseases of malaria and dengue fever have also been linked to the ENSO cycle. Malaria affects about 300 million people each year and is caused by the *Plasmodium* parasite carried by infected mosquitoes. Dengue fever, a virus transmitted via mosquito, infects about 50 million people per year. While only a small percentage of infected cases are fatal, the diseases still have an immense impact on human communities due to the large number cases and the stresses they put on health infrastructure. Children in developing countries are especially vulnerable to both of the diseases (Malaria 2011; Dengue and dengue haemorrhagic fever 2011).

The severity of a malaria or dengue fever epidemic is dependent on the population of the mosquitoes that transmit the diseases. Mosquitoes breed in warm, stagnant water, so climate that creates such conditions increases the risk of malaria and dengue fever (Gagnon et al 2001). As

previously discussed, an increase in rainfall may or may not create more stagnant water, and in some conditions a decrease in rainfall may convert running water into stagnant water. Therefore a change in rainfall may or may not increase the risk of malaria or dengue fever. In general warmer temperatures have been associated with increases in both malaria and dengue fever, as they contribute to creating ideal mosquito breeding conditions (Kovats 2000).

In addition to its effect on the mosquitoes, the climatic disruptions brought on by the ENSO cycle affects the virulence of the diseases carried by them When ENSO creates conditions that expose communities to malaria that do not have any immunity to the disease, a severe epidemic can ensue. An example of this is in the dry areas of northern Peru. When El Niño induces heavy rainfall there, the population is exposed to malaria, for which they have no immunity (Gagnon et al 2002). Such climatic disruptions also affect dengue fever, but are more connected to water storage practices than with people's immunity to the disease. For instance, during a drought more people store water in their home, giving mosquitoes a place to breed if the containers are open to the air (Gagnon et al 2001).

The transmission of epidemic diseases is not limited to mosquitoes. Various ticks and rodents have been carriers of epidemic diseases worldwide. Many of these diseases are not limited to tropical areas, unlike most of the mosquito-borne diseases. An example of a rodent-borne disease that affects temperate areas is hantaviruses (Kovats 2000).

Hantaviruses are responsible for the disease hantavirus cardiopulmonary syndrome, which has affected the southwestern United States for over 20 years. The virus is carried in the deer mouse, which is not affected by the virus but can transmit it to humans. Exposure to humans generally occurs from breathing in the mouse's excrement in aerosol form. During El Niño, increased rainfall in the western United States contributes toward an increase in deer mouse populations, increasing the likelihood of human-mouse proximity and disease transmission (Hjelle and Glass 2000.)

#### **Impact of ENSO on Public Safety**

The ENSO cycle can induce extreme weather events and natural disasters in the areas it affects. While both El Niño and La Niña cause flooding in some areas and droughts in others, El Niño has been correlated to more natural disasters worldwide (Dilley and Heyman 1995). The climatic fluctuations tied to the ENSO cycle have been related to severe drought and flooding as well as tropical cyclone frequency and severity.

The ENSO cycle's climatic disruptions affect tropical cyclone (hurricane) patterns worldwide. Any change in tropical cyclone patterns has serious impacts on human populations, especially if tropical cyclones impact communities that are normally not impacted and are therefore unprepared.

The ENSO cycle's effect on tropical cyclones varies throughout the world, but in general, warmer sea surface temperatures increase the frequency and intensity of tropical cyclones (Fei and Shibin 2010; Evans and Allan 1992.). How ENSO-induced climatic changes interact with local conditions to affect tropical cyclone activity is highly variable and different for different areas of the world. For instance, during El Niño the frequency of tropical cyclones in the Caribbean and Queensland, Australia is reduced while at the same time the intensity of tropical cyclones over China is increased (Kovats 2000; Fei and Shibin 2010). Super-Typhoon Winnie, which occurred during the especially severe 1997-98 El Niño, is shown in Figure 18.

![](_page_43_Picture_1.jpeg)

\$85E5071 1997:08:13 21:21:45

## Figure 18: Super-Typhoon Winnie, as seen from orbit Source: Super Typhoon Winnie 1997

In addition to influencing tropical cyclone patterns the ENSO cycle can cause severe drought and flooding in many areas worldwide. During the extremes of the ENSO cycle's oscillation its telleconnections are most pronounced. During a particularly strong El Niño or La Niña areas enhanced rainfall telleconnections increase the likelihood of drought in the case of a reduced rainfall telleconnections and flooding in the case of an increased rainfall telleconnections (Lyon 2004.). While the ENSO cycle's telleconnections affect both drought and flooding disasters, it has been found that ENSO is much better correlated with drought events than with flooding events (Dilley and Heyman 1995).

Drought has both direct and indirect impacts on communities worldwide. The direct impact of reduced rainfall is less availability to drinking water. When combined with temperature increases this considerably increases the population's risk of severe dehydration.

The indirect impacts of drought are famine and wildfires brought about by dryer conditions (Hales et al 2003).

Severe drought often leads to agricultural failure and causes a famine, or food shortage. A famine's social impacts are death from starvation, increased risk of disease due to malnutrition, and socio-politico disruption or population displacement (Hales et al 2003). ENSO-induced agricultural disruption and famine is one of the most severe impacts of ENSO on communities worldwide, affecting billions of people worldwide (Dilley and Heyman 1995.).

The dry conditions associated with ENSO-induced drought greatly increase the risk of wildfires in many areas around the world, particularly in Indonesia and Malaysia (Kita K, Fujiwara M, Kawakami S. 2000). Wildfires in Indonesia, shown in Figure 19, have been correlated with ENSO as far back as 1982 (Kovats 2000). The impact of wildfires on human communities is threefold. The wildfires endanger people directly, the smoke becomes a public health hazard, and the fires destroy property and crops, which can lead to economic collapse or famine (Hales et al 2003; Khandekar et al 2000). Because of the varied and severe impacts of ENSO-triggered wildfires, and the great number of people exposed to such dangers, the risk they pose to human communities is considerable (Kovats 2000).

![](_page_45_Picture_1.jpeg)

Figure 19: Wildfires in Indonesia Source: A Dangerous Intersection 2004

In addition to drought, the rainfall telleconnections brought about by the ENSO can cause flooding in different areas around the world. The impacts of flooding are both direct and indirect. Risks to human populations include drowning, economic and social damage due to loss of property, homes, or crops, and drinking water contamination (Hales et al 2003). Additionally, flooding increases the risk of communities to water-borne diseases that are more prevalent during flooding conditions (D'Aleo 2002). These combined risks make flooding a serious threat to vulnerable communities.

#### **Impact of ENSO on Pacific Ecosystems**

The ENSO cycle's climatic telleconnections has dramatic impacts on ecosystems across the Pacific Basin. Changes in these ecosystems affect people both directly and indirectly. The communities spanning the Pacific Basin all live in and depend on their ecosystems. Ecological changes can have a great impact on both a community's health and on agricultural and fishery

yield. In these ways the ENSO cycle's effect on Pacific ecosystems affects the communities of the Pacific Basin.

ENSO-triggered ecological changes can affect the health of a community because many diseases are transmitted to humans via animal carriers. As mentioned previously, rodent and mosquitoes carry endemic diseases that have a tremendous impact on public health around the globe (Kovats 2000). An ENSO event that affects an ecosystem that includes disease-carrying animals will in turn affect the public health of nearby human communities.

Ecological changes due to the ENSO cycle can also have a great impact on agricultural and fishing yield, which are ecosystem services that people depend on directly for resources or food. As crops and fish are part of complex and interconnected ecosystems, any changes in those ecosystems affect them and in turn the people who depend on them (Holmgren et al 2001).

Studies of ENSO's effect on ecosystems tend to focus on marine and desert ecosystems, where its effects are most dramatic (Holmgren et al 2001). For instance, a study of the effects of the ENSO cycle on Amazon rain forests found only small effects on plant productivity, which decreased by 3.1% during El Niño and increased 3.8% during La Niña. Such a small change will not have measurable effects on the ecosystem and its interactions with human communities there (Foley et al 2000). Because the effects of ENSO on marine and arid ecosystems are most pronounced, they are appropriate case studies for how ENSO interacts with ecosystems around the Pacific Basin.

The ENSO cycle can have a dramatic impact on the state of arid ecosystems. ENSO telleconnections cause many areas that are otherwise arid to experience heavy precipitation. This can transform a desert ecosystem in a very short time span. For example, in the arid islands of

the Gulf of California, plant cover nearly doubles during El Niño years. This increase in plant life generally translates to an increase in herbivore populations, which is followed by an increase in carnivore populations (Holmgren et al 2001).

The ENSO cycle's impact on marine ecosystems is also quite pronounced. The climatic shifts and temperature changes associated with ENSO greatly affect primary productivity (plant life) which in turn impacts the rest of the food chain from the ground up. The chieexample of this is in the Central Equatorial Pacific.

During El Niño, when the trade winds slacken or reverses, the ocean in the Central Equatorial Pacific region is stratified, with the surface water masses not mixing with the cooler, nutrient-rich water masses below. This severely limits primary productivity near the water's surface. During La Niña, the trade winds drive upwelling in the Central Equatorial Pacific of cold, nutrient-rich, deep water, which mixes with the warm water at the surface, creating an ideal environment for maximizing primary productivity. Oceanic plant life (phytoplankton) is the energy source for the entire marine food chain. It should therefore not be surprising that changes in primary productivity impact the population levels and migrational patterns of fish through several levels of the food chain (Lehodey 2001).

#### **Impact of ENSO on Pacific Economies**

The impact of the ENSO cycle on Pacific economies is both immense and varied. While the ENSO cycle's threat to public safety has considerable economic consequences, so too does its effect on agricultural and fishing yield. The ENSO cycle's meteorological effects can affect

Pacific economies directly or can change ecosystem dynamics, which in turn affects agriculture and fishing.

The ENSO cycle's impact on agriculture is due to rainfall telleconnections. While flooding damage can reduce agricultural yield, in general greater rainfall is correlated with greater agricultural yield (El Niño-History and Crisis 2000). The economic impact of this is that farms will be more productive and during telleconnections of increased rainfall and less productive during telleconnections of decreased rainfall (Selvaraju 2003). The exception to this rule would be during flooding conditions where crops are destroyed, which could lead to famine or economic collapse (Hales et al 2003).

The ENSO cycle also has a significant influence on fishery yields in the Pacific. Changes in upwelling, sea surface temperature and primary productivity (plant abundance) due to the ENSO cycle affects both coastal and pelagic (open ocean) fisheries.

The ENSO cycle's effect on upwelling off the coast of Peru has a direct effect on fishery yield. An increase in upwelling brought upon by La Niña increases the anchovy population and fishery catch, while El Niño induced stratification can choke the population and drastically reduce the anchovy catch (D'Aleo 2002). For example, in 1972, an especially severe El Niño completely inhibited upwelling off the Peruvian coast, cutting the anchovy population off from the nutrient-rich upwelled water and decimating it (Caviedes 1975). As a result, the fishery completely collapsed and did not recover until after several La Niña events (D'Aleo 2002.).

![](_page_49_Picture_1.jpeg)

Figure 20: Peruvian Fishing Ship; the Peruvian Anchovy fishery is greatly affected by the ENSO cycle. Source: Courcoux 2011

The ENSO cycle's effect on pelagic fisheries is considerably less pronounced. As described previously, equatorial upwelling due to La Niña supports the augmentation of Pacific fish populations, while El Niño induced stratification generally reduces fish populations. This pattern holds generally true in the Central and Eastern Pacific, where the conditions are less dynamic than the western Pacific, where primary productivity is more variable (Lehodey 2001). In the Western Pacific, consistent warm temperatures and sufficient food make it an ideal region for skipjack tuna. It is believed that the productivity in the region, normally low due to stratification, is enhanced by the convergence of currents at the edge of the Pacific Basin (Lehodey et al 1997). The net result of these interactions is a decrease in East Pacific fishery yield and increase in West Pacific fishery yield during El Niño and the opposite effect during La Niña. This impact is significantly economically because 70% of the world tuna catch is from the Pacific Ocean (Lehodey et al 1997).

#### **Factors Affecting Severity of ENSO's Human Impact**

The severity of ENSO's impact on human communities of the Pacific Basin depends on a number of key factors. The most influential of these are the severity of the ENSO event and the vulnerability of the society being affected. As ENSO's oscillation varies in magnitude, the intensity of its telleconnections also varies, and therefore so does its impact on society (Changnon 2000). The vulnerability of a society also plays a major role in ENSO's impact, as not all societies have the same ability to deal with climatic changes (Hales et al 2003).

The variability of the ENSO cycle causes some ENSO events to be more severe than others. The increase in telleconnection intensity from more severe ENSO events in turn increases the impact upon society. An example of this is the 1997-1998 El Niño, which had especially pronounced telleconnections worldwide, even having a significant impact on weather patterns across the United States (Changnon 2000).

The other key factor to the social impact of the ENSO cycle is the vulnerability of the societies affected to extreme weather events and climatic changes. Factors in a society's vulnerability include natural vulnerability, resource dependency, economic resources, and disaster response capability (Adger 1999)

A society's natural vulnerability and resource dependency is generally connected with the society's location and economic structure. An agrarian society in an exposed location would be more vulnerable to economic and social disruption than an industrialized society in a protected location in the event of an extreme weather event, such as an ENSO-induced super-typhoon. Because of this, many developing countries with coastal cities are extremely vulnerable to severe weather events (Hales et al 2003).

A society's economic resources and disaster response capability also play a major role in its vulnerability to severe climate events. Societies with greater economic resources are generally better equipped to deal with climatic extremes and to recover from natural disasters (Adger 1999). In contrast developing countries often suffer the most from climatic changes, as they do not have the health and disaster response infrastructure that more industrialized nations possess (Hales et al 2003).

One solution to reduce the social impact of the ENSO cycle would be to institute an early warning system, which would allow communities worldwide to prepare for ENSO's effects in advance. Such procedures exist in the United States and other developed countries, but many countries across the Pacific and worldwide do not have access to accurate weather and climate forecasts. During the El Niño of 1997-1998, ENSO's telleconnections were predicted six months in advance, allowing individuals and institutions to prepare in advance for its effects (Changnon 2000). Progress has already been made toward such a system, with the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Office of Global Programs (NOAA/OGP) leading the way. NOAA/OGP has set up a series of forums around the world to better inform government institutions worldwide on climate forecasts and preparation methods to minimize the social impact of the ENSO cycle worldwide (Buizer et al 2000.)

## Conclusion

The ENSO cycle has immense social impacts across the Pacific Basin and will continue to shape climate patterns there for the foreseeable future. While increasing development in Pacific Basin countries may reduce vulnerability to extreme weather events, ENSO's social impacts will still affect them for a long time to come. It is therefore imperative that further research be conducted into the causes and future outlook of the ENSO cycle to aid prediction and response efforts. In addition to this, efforts must be made to reduce the vulnerability of communities worldwide to extreme weather events, particularly in the developing world. The importance of this is augmented by the prospects of global climate change and future population growth, which will put an increasing number of people at risk to natural disasters and climatic changes in the future.

### References

- A Dangerous Intersection [Internet]: NASA; c2004 [cited 2011 10/18]. Available from: http://www.nasa.gov/vision/earth/livingthings/reef\_mystery.html
- Adams et al. 1999. The Economic Consequences of ENSO Events for Agriculture. Clim Res 13:165-72.
- Adams et al. 2003. The benefits to Mexican Agriculture of an El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO) Early Warning System. Agric for Meteorol 115(3-4):183-94.
- Allan RJ. 1988. El Niño Southern Oscillation Influences in the Australasian region. Prog Phys Geogr 12(3):313-48.
- Allan R, Lindesay J & Parker D. 1996. El Niño, Southern Oscillation & Climatic Variability. Collingwood, Australia:406p.
- American Samoa & the Pacific Remote Islands [Internet]. NOAA Ship Hi'ialakai: NOAA; c2010 [cited 2011 04/29]. Available from: http://asramp10.blogspot.com/.
- An Introduction to Physical Oceanography [Internet] University of Maine; c2002 [cited 2011 04/29/2011]. Available from: http://gyre.umeoce.maine.edu/physicalocean/Tomczak/ IntroOc/index.html .
- Anderson D, Goldman R, Osswald P. 2010. The Effect of the ENSO Cycle on Equatorial Pacific Water Masses. SEA Cruise S232.
- Bouma et al. 1997. Global Assessment of El Niño's Disaster Burden. The Lancet: .
- Bouma MJ and van der Kaay HJ. 1996. The EI niño southern oscillation and the historic malaria epidemics on the indian subcontinent and sri lanka: An early warning system for future epidemics? Tropical Medicine & International Health 1(1):86-96.
- Broad K, Pfaff ASP, Glantz MH. 2002. Effective and Equitable Dissemination of Seasonal-to-Interannual Climate Forecasts: Policy Implications from the Peruvian Fishery During El Niño 1997/98. Clim Change 54(4):415,438; 438.
- Buizer JL, Foster J, Lund D. 2000. Global Impacts and Regional Actions: Preparing for the 1997–98 el Niño. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 81(9):2121-39.
- Caviedes CN. 1975. El Niño 1972: Its Climatic, Ecological, Human, and Economic Implications. Geogr Rev 65(4):493-509.
- Chowdhury MR. 2003. The el Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO) and Seasonal Flooding -Bangladesh. Theor Appl Climatol 76(1):105,124; 124.

- Clarke AJ and Lebedev A. 1996. Long-term changes in the equatorial pacific trade winds. J Clim 9(5):1020-9.
- Climate Research Committee, Board on Atmospheric Sciences and Climate, Commission on Physical Sciences, Mathematics, and Resources, National Research Council. 1983. El Niño and the Southern Oscillation: A scientific plan. Washington D.C.: National Academy Press.
- Costello CJ, Adams RM, Polasky S. 1998. The Value of El Niño Forecasts in the Management of Salmon: A Stochastic Dynamic Assessment. Am J Agric Econ 80(4):765-77.
- Courcoux G 2011. Scientists Working for Responsible Fishing in Peru. [Internet]: Istitut de recherché pour le development; c2011 [cited 2011 10/18]. Available from: http://en.ird.fr/the-media-library/scientific-news-sheets/349-scientists-working-for-responsible-fishing-in-peru
- Cronin MF, Bond NA, Fairall CW, Weller RA. 2006. Surface Cloud Forcing in the East Pacific Stratus Deck/Cold Tongue/ITCZ Complex. J Clim 19(3):392-409.
- D'Aleo JS. 2002. Oryx Resource Guide to El Niño and La Niña. "Westport, CT, USA": Greenwood Publishing Group, Incorporated.
- Dengue and dengue haemorrhagic fever [Internet]: World Health Organization; c2011 [cited 2011 9/25]. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs117/en/index.html
- Diaz, Henry & Markgraf, Vera. 1992. El Niño: Historical and Paleoclimatic Aspects of the Southern Oscillation. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Dilley and Heyman 1995. ENSO and Disaster: Droughts, Floods and El Niño/Southern Oscillation Warm Events. Disasters 19(3):181-193.
- El Niño History and Crisis. 2000. Cambridge: The White Horse Press.
- El Niño Theme Page [Internet]: NOAA Tropical Atmosphere Ocean Project; c2011 [cited 2011 04/29]. Available from: http://www.pmel.noaa.gov/tao/elnino/nino-home.html .

Epstein PR. 1997. Climate, Ecology, and Human Health. Consequences 3(2).

Evans JL and Allan RJ. 1992. El Niño/Southern Oscillation Modification to the Structure of the Monsoon and Tropical Cyclone Activity in the Australasian Region. Int J Climatol 12(6):611-23.

Fedorov et al. 2003. How Predictable is El Niño. BAMS 84(7):911-919.

- Fei H and Shibin X. 2010. Super Typhoon Activity Over the Western North Pacific and its Relationship with ENSO. Journal of Ocean University of China (English Edition) 9(2):123-8.
- Felix N K. 2000. Satellite-Observed Sensitivity of World Land Ecosystems to El Niño/La Niña. Remote Sens Environ 74(3):445-62.
- Fielder PC. 2002. Environmental Change in the Eastern Tropical Pacific Ocean: Review of ENSO and Decadal Variability. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 244:265-83.
- Foley et al. 2002. El Niño-Southern Oscillation and the Climate, Ecosystems and Rivers of Amazonia. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 16(4):1132.
- Gagnon A, Smoyer-Tomic K, Bush A. 2002. The El Niño Southern Oscillation and Malaria Epidemics in South America. Int J Biometeorol 46(2):81,89; 89.
- Gagnon et al. 2001. Dengue Epidemics and the El Niño Southern Oscillation. Clim Res 19(1):35-43.
- Glantz M, Katz R, Krenz M. 1987. Climate crisis: The Societal Impacts Associated with the 1982-83 Worldwide Climate Anomalies. National Center for Atmospheric Research.
- Glantz MH. 1996. Currents of Change: El Niño's Impact on Climate and Society. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Glantz MH. 2002. La Niña and its Impacts: Facts and Speculation. New York: The United Nations University, 2002.
- Godínez-Domínguez E et al. 2000. Changes in The Structure of a Coastal Fish Assemblage Exploited by a Small Scale Gillnet Fishery During an El Niño–La Niña Event. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 51(6):773-87.
- Hales et al. 1999. El Niño and the Dynamics of Vectorborne Disease Transmission. Environ Health Perspect :102.
- Hales S, Weinstein P, A, Woodward. 1996. Dengue Fever Epidemics in the South Pacific: Driven by El Niño Southern Oscillation? The Lancet: .
- Hales S, Edwards SJ, Kovats RS. 2003. Chapter 5: Impacts on health of climate extremes. In: Climate change and human health: Risks and responses. A.J. McMichael et al, editor. World Health Organization. 102 p.
- Hall S.[Internet]. 2010. Coriolis Force, and Artifact of the Earth's Rotaion. [cited 2011 08/29]. Available from: http://ww2010.atmos.uiuc.edu/%28Gh%29/guides/mtr/fw/crls.rxml

- Halpert, MS and Ropelewski, CF. 1992. Surface Temperature Patterns Associated with the Southern Oscillation. J. Climate. 5, 577-593.
- Harrison RD. 2001. Drought and the Consequences of El Niño in Borneo: A Case Study of Figs. Popul Ecol 43(1):63,75; 75.
- Hastenrath S. 1999. Dynamics of the Pacific Equatorial Dry Zone. Meteorol Atmos Phys 71(3-4):243-54.
- Hjelle B and Glass GE. 2000. Outbreak of Hantavirus Infection in the Four Corners Region of the United States in the Wake of the 1997-1998 El Niño-Southern Oscillation. J Infect Dis 181(5):pp. 1569-1573.
- Holland GJ. 2009. Predicting el Niño's impacts. Science 325(5936):47-.
- Holmgren et al. 2001. El Niño Effects on the Dynamics of Terrestrial Ecosystems. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 16(2):89-94.
- Holmgren M and Scheffer M. 2001. El Niño as a Window of Opportunity for the Restoration of Degraded Arid Ecosystems. Ecosystems 4:151-9.
- Jaksic FM. 2001. Ecological Effects of El Niño in Terrestrial Ecosystems of Western South America. Ecography 24(3):241-50.
- Johnson GC, McPhaden MJ, Firing E. 2001. Equatorial Pacific Ocean Horizontal Velocity, Divergence, and Upwelling. J Phys Oceanogr 31(3):839-49.
- Khandekar et al. 2000. The 1997 El Niño, Indonesian Forest Fires and the Malaysian Smoke Problem: A deadly combination of Natural and Man-Made Hazard. Natural Hazards 21:131-144.
- Kita K, Fujiwara M, Kawakami S. 2000. Total Ozone Increase Associated with Forest Fires Over the Indonesian Region and its Relation to the El Niño-Southern Oscillation. Atmos Environ 34(17):2681-90.
- Kitzberger T, Swetnam TW, Veblen TT. 2001. Inter-Hemispheric Synchrony of Forest Fires and the El Niño-Southern Oscillation. Global Ecol Biogeogr 10(3):315-26.
- Kogan F. 2000. Satellite-Observed Sensitivity of World Land Ecosystems to El Niño/La Niña, Remote Sensing of Environment. 74(3):445-462.
- Kovats RS. 2000. El Niño and Human Health. Bull. W.H.O.:1127-35.
- Latif M, Neelin, DJ. 1994. El Niño/Southern Oscillation. Hamburg: Max-Plank-Institut fur Meteorologie. Report nr 129. 1 p.

- Lehodey et al. 1997. El Niño Southern Oscillation and Tuna in the Western Pacific. Nature 389:715-8.
- Lehodey P. 2001. The Pelagic Ecosystem of the Tropical Pacific Ocean: Dynamic Spatial Modelling and Biological Consequences of ENSO. Prog Oceanogr 49(1-4):439-68.
- Lyon B. 2004. The Strength of El Niño and the Spatial Extent of Tropical Drought. Geophys Res Lett 31(21):L21204.
- Malaria [Internet]: World Health Organization; c2011 [cited 2011 9/25]. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs094/en/index.html
- McGowan JA, Cayan DR, Dorman LM. 1998. Climate-Ocean Variability and Ecosystem Response in the Northeast Pacific. Science 281(5374):210-7.
- Moran E et al. 2006. Human strategies for Coping with El Niño Related Drought in Amazonia. Clim Change 77(3):343,361; 361.
- Multivariate ENSO Index [Internet]: NOAA Earth Systems Research Laboratory; c2011 [cited 2011 04/29]. Available from: http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/psd/people/klaus.wolter/MEI/ .
- Murty TS, Scott D, Baird W. 2000. The 1997 el Niño, Indonesian Forest Fires and the Malaysian Smoke Problem: A deadly Combination of Natural and Man-Made Hazard. Nat Hazards 21(2):131,144; 144.
- Mysak LA. 1986. El Niño, Interannual Variability and Fisheries in the Northeast Pacific Ocean. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 43(2):464-97.
- Neil Adger W. 1999. Social Vulnerability to Climate Change and Extremes in Coastal Vietnam. World Dev 27(2):249-69.
- Nicholls N. 1991. The El Niño / Southern Oscillation and Australian Vegetation. Plant Ecol 91(1):23,36; 36.
- Nicholls N. 1994. El Niño-Southern Oscillation and Vector-Borne Disease. The Lancet: 21-22.
- Oldenborgh, GJV, Philip SY, & Collins M. 2005. El Niño in a Changing Climate: A Multi-Model Study. Ocean Science :81-95.
- Pascual et al. 2000. Cholera Dynamics and El Niño-Southern Oscillation. Science 289(5485):1766-9.
- Philander G. 1990. El Niño, La Niña, and the Southern Oscillation. London: Academic Press, Inc.

- Philander G. 1996. El Niño and La Niña. In: Oceanography: Contemporary readings in ocean sciences. Pirie RG, editor. 3rd ed. New York: Oxford University Press, Inc. 72 p.
- Pinet PR. 1992. Chapter 12: The Physics and Biology of Upwelling Water. In: Oceanography. St. Paul: West Publishing Company. 397-406.
- Podestá et al. 2002. Use of ENSO-Related Climate Information in Agricultural Decision Making in Argentina: A Pilot Experience. Agricultural Systems 74(3):371-92.
- Podestá G. 1999. Associations Between Grain Crop Yields in Central-Eastern Argentina and El Niño-Southern Oscillation. J. Appl. Meteorol 38:1488-98.
- Romero C, Baigorria G, Stroosnijder L. 2007. Changes of Erosive Rainfall for El Niño and La Niña Years in the Northern Andean Highlands of Peru. Clim Change 85(3):343,356; 356.
- Segar DA. 1998. Chapter 7: Ocean-Atmosphere Interactions. In: Introduction to Ocean Sciences. Scarborough, Ontario: Wadsworth Publishing Company:188 -192.
- Selvaraju R. 2003. Impact of El Niño-Southern Oscillation on Indian Foodgrain Production. Int. J. Climatol 23:187-206.
- Siegert et al. 2001. Increased Damage from Fires in Logged Forests During Droughts Caused by El Niño. Nature 414(6862):437-40.
- Slik JWF. 2004. El Niño Droughts and Their Effects on Tree Species Composition and Diversity in Tropical Rain Forests. Oecologia 141(1):114,120; 120.
- Soler CMT, Sentelhas PC, Hoogenboom G. 2010. The Impact of El Niño Southern Oscillation Phases on Off-Season Maize Yield for a Subtropical Region of Brazil. Int J Climatol 30(7):1056-66.
- Stenseth et al. 2003. Studying Climate Effects on Ecology Through the Use of Climate Indices: The North Atlantic Oscillation, El niño Southern Oscillation and Beyond. The Royal Society :2087-2096.
- Super Typhoon Winnie. [Internet]: NASA; c1997 [cited 2011 10/18]. Available from: http://apod.nasa.gov/apod/ap970819.html
- Tao Fea. 2004. Variability in Climatology and Agricultural Production in China in Association with the East Asian Summer Monsoon and El Niño Southern Oscillation. Clim Res 28:23-30.

Thurman and Trujillo. 1999. Essentials of Oceanography. Prentice Hall College Div. 527p.

Thurman HV 1996 Essentials of Oceanography, 5<sup>th</sup> ed. PrenticeHall, Inc.

Timmermann et al. 1998. Hamburg: Max-Plank-Institut fur Meteorologie. Report nr 251. 13 p.

- Tomczak M & Godfrey JS. 2003. Regional Oceanography: an Introduction 2nd ed, Delhi: Daya Publishing House, 390p.
- Typhoon Ketsana batters Southeast Asia [Internet]: Global Voices; c2009 [cited 2011 10/18]. Available from: http://globalvoicesonline.org/2009/10/02/typhoon-ketsana-batterssoutheast-asia/
- Vincent DG. 1994. The South-Pacific Convergence Zone (SPCZ) a Review. Mon Weather Rev 122(9):1949-70.
- Wang CC and Magnusdottir G. 2006. The ITCZ in the Central and Eastern Pacific on Synoptic Time Scales. Mon Weather Rev 134(5):1405-21.
- Williamson et al. 2000. Amazonian Tree Mortality During the 1997 El Niño Drought. Conserv Biol 14(5):pp. 1538-1542.